THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

**RECEIVED**

NOV 05 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Horry County Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable William H. Seals, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-000054

---

Theodore Wills Jr.,.....Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,.....Respondent.

---

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

WILLIAM G. YARBOROUGH III

LAUREN C. HOBBS

WILLIAM G. YARBOROUGH III, ATTORNEY AT LAW, LLC  
522 North Church Street  
Greenville, South Carolina 29601  
(864) 331-1612

**COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER**

**

## **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- I. WHETHER THE PCR COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE FOR ADVISING PETITIONER TO ENTER INTO THE PROFFER AGREEMENT.
  - A. DID THE PCR COURT ERR IN FINDING COUNSEL NOT DEFICIENT FOR ADVISING PETITIONER TO ENTER INTO THE PROFFER AGREEMENT IF COUNSEL'S INTERPRETATION OF THE AGREEMENT WAS ERRONEOUS AND UNREASONABLE AND COUNSEL ADVISED PETITIONER PURSUANT THAT INTEPRETATION?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was arrested on the charges of accessory to murder after the fact and obstruction of justice in connection with the murder of Julian Lee on November 01, 2001. App. pp. 476-477. William Diggs, Esquire<sup>1</sup> represented Petitioner. Assistant Solicitor Scott Hixson and Assistant Solicitor Brad Richardson prosecuted the case.<sup>2</sup> Petitioner entered into a proffer agreement with the State on August 25, 2005. App. pp. 481-483. An indictment charging Petitioner for the murder of Lee was consequently presented to the Horry County Grand Jury, which returned a true bill on April 27, 2006 (2006-GS-26-1652). App. p. 480. Petitioner was tried on the murder charge before the Honorable Steven H. John on October 1st through 3<sup>rd</sup>, 2007. The trial court held a lengthy pre-trial *Jackson v. Denno* hearing on the defense's motion to exclude the taped statement Petitioner made to law enforcement pursuant to the proffer agreement. App. pp. 42-143. The judge ultimately found Petitioner's statement and waiver of *Miranda* rights freely and voluntarily made, as well as admissible during the State's case in chief. App. pp. 131-134. The recorded statement<sup>3</sup> was played before the jury during the State's case in chief with all references or mention of the polygraph examination Petitioner took redacted. App. p. 134; p. 226. The jury found Petitioner guilty and he was sentenced to forty (40) years imprisonment with credit for time served. App. p. 334, ln. 1-7.

Represented by Joseph L. Savitz, III of the South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense, Petitioner timely appealed his conviction. App. p. 449. The Court of Appeals affirmed his conviction on September 22, 2010. *State v. Wills*, 390 S.C. 139, 700 S.E.2d 266 (Ct. App.

---

<sup>1</sup> Hereinafter referred to as Counsel.

<sup>2</sup> Solicitor Hixson recused himself from the case after concern arose that he may be called as a witness due to statements he made to Petitioner during the proffer. App. p. 420, ln. 20-24. Solicitor Richardson thereafter took over prosecuting the case and brought the case to trial. App. p. 420, ln. 23-24.

<sup>3</sup> State's Ex. 22

2010). The Supreme Court granted certiorari and held oral argument on December 6, 2012. App. p. 454. On July 16, 2014, the Supreme Court affirmed the decision of the Court of Appeals. *State v. Wills*, 409 S.C. 183, 762 S.E.2d 3 (2014). The Supreme Court agreed that pursuant to the rules of contract construction, Petitioner had waived Rule 410 by entering the agreement, which he did with the advice and consent of counsel and he thus entered the agreement knowingly and voluntarily. *Id.* at 185, 762 S.E.2d at 4. *See also Wills*, 390 S.C. at 145-46, 700 S.E.2d at 269. Joined by Justice Hearn, Chief Justice Beatty dissented in a separate and impassioned opinion. 409 S.C. at 186-206, 762 S.E.2d at 5-15.

On December 1, 2014, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (APCR) *pro se* raising a number of grounds. App. pp. 335-356. Represented by Assistant Attorney General Jessica E. Kinard, the Respondent made its return to Petitioner's APCR on February 2, 2016. App. p.p. 357-361. Represented by undersigned counsel, Petitioner amended his APCR on June 1, 2017. App. pp. 364-371. An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable William H. Seals on September 19, 2017. Undersigned counsel appeared for Petitioner. Assistant Attorney General Johnny E. James, Jr. represented Respondent. Petitioner and Trial Counsel were presented and testified. App. pp. 376-415. Respondent called Solicitor Hixson to testify as well. App. p. 416. The PCR Court denied relief on January 5, 2018. App. pp. 436-448. This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In October 2001, the victim, Lee, was found deceased as a result of two gunshot wounds to his back in a rural area of Horry County. App. pp. 168-169. Petitioner's accessory to murder charge and obstruction of justice charge was pending for a few years prior to the agreement stuck here. Under the agreement, Petitioner would provide a statement on his knowledge of Lee's murder and cooperate in the prosecution of other individuals in return for the State's "consideration" of the cooperation in sentencing on the pending charges. Petitioner was also to submit to a polygraph in which the State would decide if the polygraph results showed inconsistency or deception in Petitioner's proffered statement or indicated Petitioner was the shooter. App. p. 482, ¶ 2. Upon any such decision by the State, the agreement authorized the State to then use Petitioner's proffered statement and any other statement(s) for "any legal purpose, including, but not limited to, considerations for....disposition of charges through....trial....and impeachment." App. p. 482, ¶ 2. The agreement provides the same authorization for use of Petitioner's statement in the clause relating to any failure in his obligation to testify at the trial of any individual prosecuted in the case<sup>4</sup>, as well as in a catchall provision that upon any violation of the agreement, "the State shall have the right to use any information through this Proffer in any fashion, whether direct of [sic] collateral to this matter." App. p. 482, ¶ 3; p. 483, ¶ 7. The agreement also provided that "any statements made by [Petitioner] may be used against him by the State for any legal purpose, including, but not limited to, considerations for charging.....In return for [Petitioner's] full compliance with all terms stated within this Proffer, statements provided during his debriefing will not be used in a criminal prosecution currently pending against him by this Office. The State will not seek any

---

<sup>4</sup> Of note, Counsel testified that to his knowledge, no one else was ever prosecuted for the murder of Julian Lee or for any other related offense.

additional charges against Theodore David Wills Jr. in connection with the subject of this Proffer.....the State shall take into consideration the materiality of his truthful testimony and degree of cooperation in the election of charge(s).” App. p. 482.

The State ultimately decided that Petitioner had shown some unintelligible level of deception during the polygraph and charged him with murder thereafter. At trial, the State called only a handful of witnesses to prove its case. Ann Hayes, a crime scene technician with Horry County testified to the location of the crime scene and evidence gathering. App. p. 165, ln. 10 – p. 184. Dr. Cynthia Schandl, a forensic pathologist, testified that Lee died of two gunshot wounds to his back. App. p. 201, ln. 14-25. Detective Neil Livingston, who previously testified during the *Jackson v. Denno* hearing, laid the foundation for the admission of the taped statement into evidence by testifying to the setting for the interview Petitioner gave, the reading of Petitioner’s Miranda rights, and the waiver thereof. App. p. 223-233. In the taped statement, Petitioner admits to being at the scene with an individual named Mark Willard, and they drove and picked up Lee, a friend. *See* Ex. 22. They drove to a secluded to a secluded area where Willard ultimately shot and killed Lee. *See* Ex. 22. Petitioner stated that he had been in the car during the shooting and stayed in the car afterwards because he was scared. *See* Ex. 22. They then came across a nearby river where Willard threw the gun into the river. *See* Ex. 22. The gun was never recovered. It was the State’s theory that there was a bounty placed on Lee’s life as the result of an unrelated drug deal with individuals referred to as the “Johnson Brothers.” *See* App. pp. 264-266. The State argued that Petitioner and Willard were paid \$5,000 each to kill Lee. *See* Ex. 22. No other individual, including Willard, was ever prosecuted for the crime. The State did not call Willard or the Johnson Brothers to testify and apart from the testimony of law enforcement and the medical examiner, no trial witness gave any information on the shooting or

underlying motives or the other individuals suspected to be involved. No witness or evidence tied Petitioner to Lee or the murder except for Petitioner's own statement. The State did not produce any witness to corroborate the information in Petitioner's taped statement.

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner did not understand that the proffer could ultimately hurt him, "it was only told to [him] that it would help me" or that his proffered statement could potentially be used against him. App. p. 402, ln. 20-23; p. 403, ln. 25; p. 404, ln. 1; p. 412, ln. 16-24; p. 414, ln. 12-22. Petitioner's understanding of the agreement mirrored that of Counsel's: "He told me that if I done what they asked me to do, that I wouldn't be charged for a crime and I would leave and...be able to go home after the court proceeding." see also p. 402, ln. 20-23; p. 412, ln. 16-24; p. 414, ln. 12-22. Petitioner also testified that he trusted Counsel and entered into the agreement because of Counsel's advice. App. p. 401, ln. 22-23; p. 410, ln. 4-5

At the PCR hearing, Counsel could not recall whether South Carolina higher courts had previously encountered the issue of the "admissibility of the proffered statement based upon a polygraph" during his representation of Petitioner. App. p. 391. Counsel also testified that "his understanding of the agreement was that if Applicant was truthful, all of the charges would be dropped and that the State would, with Applicant's assistance, prosecute the others involved in the killing." App. p. 444. *See also* App. p. 389, ln. 17-25; p. 390, ln. 1-18. In regard to the terms on the use of Petitioner's proffered statement at trial in the event of breach, Counsel testified that he understood the agreement as allowing the State to use Petitioner's proffer statement for impeachment only. App. pp. 441-443. Before advising Petitioner to enter into the agreement, Counsel did not clarify with Solicitor Hixson the extent of the State's use of the statement in the event of breach and did not approach Solicitor Hixson to renegotiate or amend the proffer

agreement. Of note, Counsel testified that to his knowledge, no one else was ever prosecuted for the murder of Julian Lee or for any other related offense.

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE PCR COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE FOR ADVISING PETITIONER TO ENTER INTO THE PROFFER AGREEMENT.

Counsel was ineffective for advising Petitioner to enter into the proffer agreement, in violation of Petitioner's Sixth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel. In denying relief on this allegation, the PCR Court committed various errors of law and misapplied *Strickland v. Washington*<sup>5</sup> on several different fronts, and there is otherwise no evidence of probative value to support the PCR Court's findings.

In finding Counsel was not deficient for advising Petitioner to enter into the proffer agreement, the PCR Court acknowledged the Supreme Court's admonishment in *Strickland* to avoid the "distorting effect of hindsight" by evaluating Counsel's performance through "the decisions of counsel based on the information and circumstances available to him at the time they are made." App. p. 445 (citing *Strickland*, U.S. at 669, 104 S.Ct. 2052).<sup>6</sup> The PCR Court essentially concluded that it could only find Counsel deficient if it were to consider information gained in hindsight: "[T]his Court finds no deficiency on the part of Counsel. Looking back, the decision to enter into the proffer agreement obviously did not inure to Applicant's benefit." App. p. 445. Yet in denying relief, the PCR Court primarily focused on testimony and circumstances concerning events that took place after the agreement had already been struck and Petitioner had already partially performed his obligations thereunder by proffering a statement. Specifically, the PCR Court focused on: testimony regarding the assurances of leniency made to Petitioner during the proffer; the parties' opinions after Petitioner failed the polygraph, including Trial Counsel

---

<sup>5</sup> 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052(1984)

<sup>6</sup> In denying relief on any of the allegations raised in Petitioner's APCR, the PCR Court stopped its analysis at the deficiency prong.

and Solicitor Hixson's surprise that Petitioner failed the polygraph; and Counsel's opinion that the State breached the agreement at trial by seeking to admit Petitioner's statements during its case in chief. App. pp. 441-446. The PCR Court failed to isolate the relevant time period within Counsel's representation of Petitioner when evaluating this issue because the aforementioned instances bear little on Counsel's decision-making that the agreement was advantageous to Petitioner before advising him to enter it. *See Thornes v. State*, 310 S.C. 306, 310, 426 S.E.2d 764, 766 (1993) (explaining the relevant time period to the analysis is at the time of the deficient performance, which in *Thornes* was at the time counsel advised the defendant to plead *nolo contendere*, as opposed to a few years thereafter when the victim in the case recanted her statement). Specifically, the aforementioned instances do not delve into the reasonableness of how Counsel interpreted the agreement or how he evaluated its inherent risks and potential benefits. These instances also do not relate to the adequacy of Counsel's explanation to Petitioner on the substance of the agreement, its potential advantages and possible consequences, or what was expected of him thereunder. The deficiency analysis for the issue on Counsel's decision-making and advisement to Petitioner is rather properly focused upon the events and circumstances prior to Petitioner entering into the agreement and beginning to perform because once he started to give a statement, any harm that could be done was done. Specifically, under the agreement, once Petitioner proffered a statement, he could not then withdraw from or otherwise rescind the agreement without breaching and subjecting himself to an array of penalties or consequences, such as the State charging him with additional crimes and using the proffered statement "for any legal purpose,...including disposition of charges...through trial."<sup>7</sup>

---

<sup>7</sup> See *infra*.

Therefore, the PCR Court failed to evaluate Counsel's performance based upon the information and circumstances available to Counsel at the time of his decision-making. Instead, the PCR Court viewed Counsel's decision-making looking back from the point of all these post-agreement events.<sup>8</sup>

In the same vein, in determining whether Counsel was ineffective for misadvising Petitioner, the PCR Court provided that the "law applicable to this question is, as noted by Respondent, at the evidentiary hearing, set forth by the holdings on Applicant's own direct appeal...While Rule 410...generally render inadmissible any statements made in the course of plea discussions, a defendant may waive the protections afforded by Rule 410." App. p. 441 (citing *Wills*, 409 S.C. 183, 185, 762 S.E.2d 3, 4 (2014)). The PCR Court committed an additional error of law here. Counsel of course did not have the opinions from Petitioner's appeal to inform his decision-making when interpreting the agreement's terms or weighing its risks and advantages to Petitioner. Considering the case's appellate opinions when evaluating Counsel's decision-making and performance is equivalent to impermissibly evaluating the issue in hindsight in contravention of *Strickland*. Further, the issue addressed on direct appeal and reviewed upon certiorari<sup>9</sup> does not speak to the specific issue here as to whether Counsel was ineffective for advising Petitioner to agree to the proffer agreement in violation of the Sixth Amendment. The PCR Court also cannot logically use the appellate opinions as the law governing the PCR issues and find at the same time that Counsel "faced a new ground" regarding the Rule 410 waiver issue. *See* App. p. 444.

---

<sup>8</sup> This is not to say though that the events and circumstances occurring after Petitioner entered the agreement and began performance are wholly irrelevant. Rather, post-agreement events that were *foreseeable* to Counsel at the time he decided the agreement was advantageous and advised Petitioner to enter the agreement are relevant.

<sup>9</sup> "Whether the trial judge committed reversible error by allowing *Wills*' statement into evidence since it resulted from a proffer agreement with the State and was thus inadmissible under Rule 410." Brief of Petitioner, p. 3.

Therefore, the PCR Court committed an error of law by misapplying *Strickland* by evaluating Counsel's performance through facts subsequent and irrelevant to Counsel's decision-making and advisement to Petitioner on taking the proffer and the appellate opinions from the case, thus allowing the effects of hindsight to invade the analysis. Because the crux of Counsel's error is Counsel's evaluation of the potential risks and benefits to Petitioner by entering into the agreement, the proper focus is rather on his decision-making. This assessment considers everything available to inform Counsel's decision-making at the time and what Counsel could reasonably foresee. Relevant factors include the reasonableness of Counsel's interpretation of the agreement itself; then-existing case law relating to the relevant issues; and the circumstances at the time the agreement was proposed and up until the agreement became binding,<sup>10</sup> including: the facts of the case, the stage and nature of the pending charges against Petitioner, and the strength of the State's evidence.

**A. THE PCR COURT ERRED IN FINDING COUNSEL NOT DEFICIENT FOR ADVISING PETITIONER TO ENTER INTO THE PROFFER AGREEMENT BECAUSE COUNSEL ERRONEOUSLY AND UNREASONABLY INTERPRETED THE PROFFER AGREEMENT AND ADVISED PETITIONER PURSUANT THAT INTERPRETATION.**

In light of Counsel's interpretation of the agreement and decision-making from his perspective at the time, Counsel was ineffective in advising Petitioner to enter into the agreement and the PCR Court erred in denying relief. Counsel's error was deficient and prejudicial in light of Counsel's erroneous interpretation of the agreement according to its very terms and the disproportion of its inherent severe risks to the potential benefits.

**i. Counsel was deficient in his interpretation and decision-making regarding the potential benefit of entering the proffer agreement.**

---

<sup>10</sup> The agreement became binding once performed. *See generally Reed v. Becka*, 333 S.C. at 686-88, 511 S.E.2d at 401-02

In denying relief, the PCR Court found that “Counsel thoughtfully and strategically considered the potential benefit the proffer presented to his client and advised his client appropriately.” App. p. 446. There is no evidence of probative value to support this finding because Counsel’s interpretation is refuted by the very terms of the agreement and the PCR Court committed an error of law by incorrectly applying the rules of contract construction through its acceptance of Counsel’s interpretation and finding the interpretation and consequent advisement to Petitioner not deficient.

In so concluding, the PCR Court relied upon Counsel’s testimony that “his understanding of the agreement was that if Applicant was truthful, all of the charges would be dropped and that the State would, with Applicant’s assistance, prosecute the others involved in the killing.” App. p. 444. *See also* App. p. 389, ln. 17-25; p. 390, ln. 1-18. Counsel maintained that his interpretation of the agreement would have materialized had the State not breached the agreement:

- Q: And you believe when you entered into... the proffer agreement that Mr. Wills was not gonna be prosecuted?
- A: Correct.
- Q: And what happened? What - - -
- A. I think the State breached the agreement if you want to know from my perspective.

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