STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
William H. Seals, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000054

THEODORE DAVID WILLS, JR.,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
S.C. Bar No. 8729
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3305

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

APR 15 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

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

taking another polygraph, they never got around to it. He testified he never understood the statement could be used against him and only entered into the proffer agreement because of Counsel's advice. (App.p.401-p.413).

The State called Chief Deputy Solicitor Scott Hixon in response. He testified he was the assistant solicitor in charge of Petitioner's case during the relevant time frame and he recalled entering into the proffer agreement with Petitioner, but not the specific terms of that agreement. Hixon said he remembered telling Petitioner to tell the truth and that if he passed a polygraph he would not be facing a whole lot of liability. He testified that at the start of the proffer Petitioner was saying things he believed were not true because they seemed inconsistent with some of the physical evidence. Hixon suggested to Counsel that they stop, but Counsel met privately with Petitioner and they elected to continue. At that point, Petitioner showed a level of involvement in the murder and seemed so forthright that Hixon believed Petitioner was telling the truth. Hixon testified he could not believe Petitioner would fail a polygraph, but because it was normal to verify a statement given by proffer, Petitioner was later given a polygraph. He insisted he did not make any firm promises to Petitioner or Counsel about how the case would be disposed of with a valid proffer. (Tr.p.416-p.423).

On cross-examination, Hixon acknowledged his statement to Petitioner during the proffer that if Petitioner answered the questions and told the truth completely he would not have anything to worry about, particularly in regard to telling the truth about the trigger man. He noted that the benefits Petitioner would get from complying with the proffer agreement were meaningful, because if he was truthful and was not the trigger man, he would never be charged with murder. Hixon testified that once he heard information from Petitioner that suggested he

was involved with a murder for hire, he began to think the proffer agreement was a big mistake for the State and perhaps a stroke of genius on the part of Counsel. He explained that if Petitioner's statements were verified as true, the State could not use them pursuant to the proffer agreement, and Petitioner could avoid additional charges even though he effectively admitted to splitting the proceeds for participating in the commission of the murder. (App.p.423-p.433). Petitioner did not offer any expert testimony or other scientific evidence at the PCR hearing to call into question the reliability or accuracy of the polygraph examination conducted by SLED which concluded he had violated the proffer agreement by not being truthful. Petitioner also did not introduce any competing results from any independent polygraph examination despite questioning Counsel about his failure to do so at the time of the trial.

At the conclusion of the hearing, the PCR court took the case under advisement. (App.p.433). In an Order of Dismissal dated December 19, 2017, and filed January 5, 2018, Judge Seals denied and dismissed Petitioner's PCR Application with prejudice. The PCR court addressed the individual allegations, finding each to be without merit. Ultimately, the PCR court concluded: "[Petitioner] has not established any constitutional violations or deprivations that would require this Court to grant his application" and denied and dismissed the application with prejudice. (App.p.436-p.448).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review in post-conviction relief cases depends on the specific issue before the reviewing court. It will defer to a post-conviction relief court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them; but will review questions of

law *de novo*, with no deference to trial courts. *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 180-81, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839-40 (2018).

ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief court properly denied relief on grounds that Petitioner failed to carry his burden of proving trial counsel was ineffective for advising him to enter into a written proffer agreement because Counsel articulated a valid strategy for giving the advice based on his belief Petition would tell the truth during the proffer and the meaningful potential benefits the proffer agreement presented to Petitioner in the context of the ongoing murder investigation.

Petitioner asserts Counsel provided ineffective assistance in advising him to enter into the proffer agreement and asks this Court to reverse the denial of relief. He claims “the PCR court committed various errors of law and misapplied *Strickland v. Washington* on various fronts,” and that there is otherwise no evidence of probative value to support the PCR court’s findings. (Petition, p.9). The State disagrees and submits Petitioner’s argument is entirely without merit. The PCR court’s ruling is supported by probative evidence in the record and therefore, certiorari should be denied.

Law

In a post-conviction relief action, the Applicant has the burden of proving the allegations in his or her application. Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC; *Caprood v. State*, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000); *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). When an Applicant alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, he or she must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. The proper measure of performance

is whether an attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. “There is a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgment in making all significant decisions in the case.” *Ard v. Catoe*, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007). An Applicant must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. *Cherry*, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624. Judicial scrutiny of counsel’s performance must be highly deferential, as it is all too tempting for a defendant to second guess counsel’s assistance after conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel’s defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689. In assessing counsel’s performance, counsel’s decisions must be evaluated at the time in which they were made and “every effort [must] be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689. Accordingly, courts must be wary of second-guessing counsel’s tactics. *Whitehead v. State*, 308 S.C. 119, 122, 417 S.E.2d 529, 531 (1992).

Trial counsel must be given leeway to make reasonable strategic decisions. Indeed, “no particular set of detailed rules for counsel’s conduct can satisfactorily take account of the variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how best to represent a criminal defendant.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689. Moreover, “representation is an art, and an act or omission that is unprofessional in one case may be sound or even brilliant in another.” *Id.* at 693. “Courts must be wary of second guessing counsel’s trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel.” *Whitehead v. State*, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992). In fact, *Strickland* requires extreme deference to counsel’s strategic judgments that are adequately

investigated. *Strickland* explains “strategic choices made after thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible options are virtually unchallengeable. . . .” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690-91.

Courts use a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the Applicant must prove counsel’s performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its “reasonableness under professional norms.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117, 385 S.E.2d at 625 (citing *Strickland*). Second, counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced the Applicant such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. A court need not first determine whether counsel’s performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant as a result of the alleged deficiencies. If it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. 668.

Moreover, *Strickland* does not require a finding of ineffectiveness merely for deviation from some rigid rule of representation. Rather, *Strickland* requires the post-conviction relief Applicant to prove “counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the ‘counsel’ guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment.” *Id.* at 697. Therefore, the function of the post-conviction relief court is to determine if “in light of all the circumstances, the identified acts or omissions were outside *the wide range* of professional competent assistance” required of a criminal defense attorney.” *Id.* at 690 (emphasis added).

Discussion / Analysis

Here, the PCR court “reviewed the testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing, observed the witnesses presented at the hearing, passed upon their credibility, and weighed the testimony accordingly.” (App.p.439). It described the relevant portions of the testimony offered by Counsel, Petitioner, and the solicitor, and concluded Petitioner had failed to meet his burden of proving Counsel was ineffective for advising him to enter into the proffer agreement. The Court made every effort to set aside the distorting effect of hindsight and considered the decisions of Counsel based on the information and circumstances available to him at the time they were made. It recognized that proffer agreements are a common element of plea negotiations and that the testimony consistently recognized the deal was very advantageous to Petitioner, as long as he told the truth. The PCR court concluded there was no deficiency on the part of Counsel in his advice to Petitioner to enter into the proffer agreement, nor prejudice therefrom, and denied relief. This conclusion was based primarily on the finding that: “Counsel thoughtfully and strategically considered the potential benefit of the proffer presented to his client and advised his client appropriately.” (App.p.445-p.446). The PCR court’s findings of fact and conclusions of law are supported by evidence in the record and therefore should result in the denial of certiorari.

Indeed, although Counsel first testified his understanding of the proffer agreement was that if Petitioner was truthful, the case would basically end (App.p.377-p.378), after more fully examining the transcript from the ten-year-old trial, he clarified he did not believe the obstruction and accessory charges would if fact be dismissed as a result of Petitioner’s cooperation, but that **entering the proffer agreement was nevertheless the best thing for**

Petitioner to do under the circumstances of the ongoing murder investigation. (App.p.389-p.390). Counsel testified that even looking back in hindsight, attacking the polygraph was the only area where he felt he could have done things differently. (App.p.376-p.387). On cross-examination Counsel testified the information Petitioner provided him was consistent with the information Petitioner gave in his statement to the police, and that Counsel had no reason to anticipate the polygraph would show signs of deception. He testified that in hindsight, maybe it would have been better to give Petitioner different advice about the proffer agreement; however, because he felt like Petitioner had been truthful with him, **he was comfortable going ahead with the strategy** of entering into the proffer agreement as proposed by the State. Counsel testified **he specifically counseled Petitioner to enter into the proffer agreement because he felt like it was the best thing for him to do.** Counsel testified this was not the first proffer agreement he advised a client to enter and that he did not see anything unusual in the terms of this proffer that jumped out as a problem. He said that **if he had a similarly situated client at the time of the PCR hearing he would advise that client to enter into the same proffer agreement,** and the only thing he would do differently would be to “be a lot stronger on the science and the procedure behind the polygraph and . . . how to go about challenging it better and making a stronger argument to the judge.” (App.p.387-p.395).

Under South Carolina law, the trial judge is in the best position to make credibility findings, not an appellate court. *See State v. Smith*, 383 S.C. 159, 167-168, 679 S.E.2d 176, 181 (2009) (“Clearly, the trial judge was in the best position to assess the credibility of the witnesses that testified at the hearing on the motion for a new trial.”); *State v. Cutro*, 332 S.C. 100, 117, 504 S.E.2d 324, 332 (1998) (“The trial judge, not this Court, is in the best position to be arbiter

of [the witness'] credibility.”); *State v. Tutton*, 354 S.C. 319, 325, 580 S.E.2d 186, 190 (Ct. App. 2003) (“The determination of a witness’s credibility must be left to the trial judge who saw and heard the witness and is therefore in a better position to evaluate his or her veracity.”). The PCR judge was in the best position to weigh Petitioner’s credibility and assess his unbelievable claims about having no knowledge of the possibility of a verification polygraph when he signed the agreement despite it being the entire focus of paragraph 2 of the agreement. Furthermore, the PCR court was in the best position to assess Counsel’s credible testimony about the advantages of the proffer agreement and his belief he pursued the best strategy under the circumstances of the case by advising Petitioner to make the proffer.

In light of the PCR court’s credibility considerations and all of the circumstances of the case, Counsel’s advice to enter into the proffer agreement was within the wide range of professionally competent assistance required of a criminal defense attorney. Counsel testified the even with the knowledge of how Petitioner’s direct appeal turned out, he strategically chose to advise him to enter into the proffer agreement and would do exactly the same for a similarly situated client today. This strategy must be considered in the context of Petitioner facing exposure to a murder charge. As noted by the solicitor, he began to think the proffer agreement was a big mistake for the State and a stroke of genius for Counsel. Simply because it did not ultimately result in acquittal or some other tangible benefit because Petitioner lied to police, does not warrant either the PCR court or this Court second guessing Counsel’s tactics through the distorting lens of hindsight. Because Counsel articulated a valid strategic reason for his advice, his performance was properly found not to be ineffective, and certiorari should be denied.

Each of Petitioner's arguments on appeal as to why he believes the PCR court committed errors of law appears to be misplaced. Petitioner first complains the PCR court "primarily focused on testimony and circumstances concerning events that took place after the proffer agreement had already been struck" and claims the PCR court "failed to isolate the relevant time period within Counsel's representation of Petitioner." (Petition, p.9-p.10). However, it appears the PCR court was simply summarizing the testimony presented at the hearing rather than improperly considering information gained in hindsight. In fact, it was entirely appropriate that the PCR court consider Counsel's explanation for why he chose the particular strategy he chose at the time of trial. Here, even in hindsight, Counsel never wavered from his belief that, at the time of trial, he intentionally chose a trial strategy of advising Petitioner to enter the proffer agreement. This strategy was entirely reasonable where Counsel believed, albeit mistakenly, that Petitioner was telling the truth about his participation in Lee's murder, and where Petitioner stood to gain both immunity from any additional charges stemming from the incident (including murder), and consideration in the election of charges and recommendation of sentencing on the pending charges he was already facing. (App.p.482).

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